FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/11/2020 4:17 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98280-5

NO. 79655-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BONNIE I. MEYERS, as personal representative of the estate of GABRIEL LEWIS ANDERSON, a deceased minor, age 15, and on behalf of the beneficiaries of the estate, and BRANDI K. SESTROM and JOSHUA ANDERSON, individually,

Appellants,

v.

FERNDALE SCHOOL DISTRICT, a public school district of the State of Washington,

Respondent,

And

WILLIAM KLEIN and JANE DOE KLEIN, and the marital community composed thereof,

Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW (RAP 13.4(b)(1) AND (4)) (CORRECTED)

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeal's analysis on "cause in fact" is in conflict with the Court of Appeal's holding in *Channel v. Mills*, and its analysis on "legal causation" conflicts with *Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Mkt, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d at 478, and *King v. City of Seattle*, 84 Wn.2d at 249–50 (and also arguably with *Lowman v. Wilbur*, 178 Wn.2d 165, 309 P.3d 387 (2013)). The decision is published. If its methodology is followed in other cases, it will result in widespread use of an impermissible "short-cut" on legal causation analysis—in fact, the very shortcut that the concurrence in *Lowman* warned against. This erroneous methodology, and its conflict with *Schooley/King*, justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Further, because the errant result may impose liability on school districts statewide, for "allowing" students to encounter risks that are otherwise simply an activity of daily living—*i.e.*, walking right next to a adult, on a public sidewalk, in broad daylight--it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The material facts of this case are not in dispute. The Ferndale School District formerly operated a "choice" high school, Windward High School, which had an average yearly enrollment of 68-170 students (CP 236-237). The high school was housed in a small former elementary school building, at the intersection of Northwest and Smith Roads, in rural Ferndale. Decedent Gabriel Anderson was a 15-year-old freshman student and nearing the end of his first school year at Windward.

Because Windward's campus was a former elementary school, it had a very rudimentary playground, with a less-than-standard sized, cement track not suitable for engaging high school students in P.E.-type activities. (CP 310). Furthermore, many students at Windward were uninterested in traditional athletics or sports. (CP 310). So, at various times, P.E. teacher Evan Ritchie would take his high school students (ages 15-18) walking for exercise. They would meet, go over expectations, and the strike out along the sidewalk adjacent to Smith Road, on a five-and-ahalf foot wide, raised, paved sidewalk with a six-inch curb.

The sidewalk was buffered from the roadway by an eight-foot marked shoulder. (CP 310-311). They would walk along the side border of their campus, into the residential neighborhood and up the road 0.68 miles, then cross the road, turn around and come back. The roadway was straight,

flat, and had excellent visibility. It was not busy during school hours (CP 311).

Ritchie obtained permission from the school administration when he took students on this walk on the sidewalk during P.E. class. The school did not obtain permission slips from parents, because it was not a field trip requiring formal parental approval. (CP 237-38, 312). Every Ferndale witness testified that permission slips were not necessary since the activity was confined within a single class period and furthered the specific educational purpose of the class—"physical education." (CP 237-38). The students were under Ritchie's direction and instruction throughout the activity and were always back in time for their next class. (CP 238). Appellant's brief mischaracterized District testimony to argue that field trip permission slips were required.

On June 10, 2015, Ritchie provided the students with instructions for topics to discuss during the walk, and reviewed safety precautions, then began the walk. (CP 312). The students walked safely on the sidewalk to their turn-around point .68 miles from school. (CP 313-314). They safely crossed W. Smith Road and began returning to school. (CP 313-314). Ritchie was walking in a "sweep" position, near the back.

Ritchie and Gabriel were walking side by side on the sidewalk. (CP 314). They were .2 miles from the school when defendant William Klein, with his own young child in the back seat, fell asleep at the wheel. (CP 52-61). Klein's vehicle left the roadway, crossed the 8 foot shoulder, hit the curb and went up and over, and onto the sidewalk striking Gabriel and other students. (CP 52-61). Ritchie was still in conversation with, and was *within two feet* of, Gabriel when Gabriel was struck. (CP 314).

Gabriel was killed. The driver—Klein—was acquitted criminally, based on a defense of having fallen asleep. This suit followed, and raised only negligence-based claims against the District.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' "legal cause" decision conflicts with several of this Court's precedents. (RAP 13.4(b)(1)).

In a negligence-based claim, our state's seminal case, *Schooley*, requires three steps: an analysis of duty (which is defined here by foreseeability / "zone of danger" because of the school/in loco parentis context), then analysis of "cause in fact" (*i.e.*, "but for" causation), and finally, analysis of legal cause. *Schooley* expressly holds that "a court should not conclude that the existence of a duty automatically satisfies the requirements of legal causation." *Id.* at 479. The Court of Appeals failed to follow this language, and in fact, did the opposite. Because of this conflict, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Court of Appeals analysis also ran afoul of King v. City of

Seattle, 84 Wn.2d 239, 250, 525 P.2d 228, 235 (1974), holding that the

legal cause analysis is "always to be determined on the facts of each case":

Cause in fact is not, however, the sole determinate of proximate cause, and in a broader sense the question of law as to whether legal liability *should* attach, given cause in fact, is the question still before us in this case.

* * *

Conceding all the other elements of tort liability are present, *they are not sufficient in themselves to make out a prima facie case*.

"The court <u>must still adduce from the record</u> whether, as a policy of law, legal liability should attach to the defendant if the other factual elements are proven and no affirmative defense is made out. 'Causation, as such, is a question of fact. Proximate causation is a question of law. The entire doctrine [of proximate cause] assumes that a defendant is not necessarily to be held responsible for all the consequences of his acts. McLaughlin, Proximate Cause, 39 Harv. L. Rev 149, 155 (1925).

* * *

[Legal liability] is always to be <u>determined on the facts of each</u> <u>case upon mixed considerations of logic, common sense, justice,</u> <u>policy, and precedent</u>. . . the best use that can be made of the authorities on proximate cause is merely to furnish illustrations of situations which judicious men upon careful consideration have adjudged to be on one side of the line or the other." 1 T. Street, Foundations of Legal Liability, 110 (1906).

King, 84 Wn.2d at 250. For conflict with these two instructive cases,

alone, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).¹

¹ See also Hartley v. State, 103 Wn.2d 768, 698 P.2d 77 (1965).

It further appears that the Court of Appeals was unduly influenced by the method of analysis in *Lowman*, but *Lowman* is distinguishable. There, this Court did not have to engage anew in legal cause/policy analysis because of *Keller v. Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 241, 44 P.3d 845, 847 (2002). In *Keller*, the Court had already determined that the duty to maintain a safe roadway extended even to negligent drivers—and therefore, that an obstruction off of the roadway was *not too remote* to impose liability. Therefore, this Court in *Lowman* did not repeat the "logic, common sense, justice, policy and precedent" analysis. Instead, it noted that *because of Keller*, "If Lowman's injuries were in fact caused by the placement of the utility pole too close to the roadway, then they cannot be deemed too remote for purposes of legal causation." *Lowman*, 178 Wn.2d at 171.

As the Madsen concurrence in *Lowman* clarified, not every case has a *Keller*-like precedent. Therefore, for *every other* fact pattern, the fact-specific, policy-based analysis required by *Schooley* must still be done. ("The majority opinion should not be broadly read to mean that whenever duty exists and cause-in-fact is found, legal causation exists. Any such interpretation would involve an incorrect statement of law. * * * At the end of the day, there is no shortcut. Parties are advised that they cannot simply reduce this case to a formula of 'duty plus cause-in-fact

equals legal causation.' Rather, duty and legal causation are separate elements that must be determined in accord with our cases.") *Lowman, supra*, at 172 (Madsen, concurring).

The Court of Appeals should have conducted a true "legal cause" analysis on the facts of *this* case. (*Schooley/King*). These conflicts warrant review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

i. The Trial Court properly analyzed all three steps of *Schooley*.

The trial court properly undertook the first step—analysis of the applicable duty--under well-established school law. (CP at 569 ("school districts have a duty to anticipate dangers which may reasonably be anticipated and to then take precautions to protect the pupils in its custody from such dangers.")). It also properly observed, as to "cause in fact," that in a strict sense, if FSD had not taken the students to walk on the sidewalk, or if they had been walking on the opposite side of the street, they would not have been in the location where they were struck—which is the type of "cause in fact" analysis urged by plaintiffs, yet rejected in *Channel v. Mills*. However, the trial court noted that, in reality, that type of "cause in fact" was insufficient, especially when students were frequently on that same sidewalk with parental consent, before and after school and during lunch. (CP at 570 ("None of those actions, had they been taken, would

have avoided this accident. Mr. Klein fell asleep.")). Finally, the trial court ultimately held that this accident was "not foreseeable" as a matter of law. That decision was correct.

ii. The Court of Appeals analyzed duty and "cause in fact" but then omitted the mandatory *Schooley/King* third step entirely.

a. Duty

On review, the Court of Appeals' analysis on *duty* was to reiterate the applicable "zone of danger" test. Slip Opinion, Appendix at 7-9. It noted that existing case law holds that "vehicles leaving roadways" is within a foreseeable zone of danger when using a sidewalk. Slip Op. at 8-9 ("It is common knowledge, and has been noted in case law for decades, that cars do not always stay in their lanes; accidents happen."). Ferndale does not challenge the Court of Appeal's analysis of the duty owed.

b. Cause in Fact

The Court of Appeals then conducted an analysis of "cause in fact" but did so in a way that conflicts with *Channel v. Mills*. Appellant's allegations of shortcomings by the District, constituting proximate cause, had to do with whether the teacher should have used a permission slip, should have been wearing a reflective safety vest, could have requested additional chaperones, could have made students walk facing traffic both ways, or could have made them cross at a designated crosswalk at the turn-around point (where there is no marked crosswalk). See Slip Op. at 10-12. But these shortcomings are irrelevant to how this accident happened. This accident was caused by a driver who fell asleep and hit students while they were walking on a sidewalk – not when they were crossing the road, not because they didn't have more chaperones, not because they weren't wearing hi-vis clothing/vests, and not because they had not obtained permission slips first.

In reality, the Court of Appeals' "cause in fact" analysis boils down to the idea that, if the District had not taken the students off campus, they would not have been present at the location where driver Klein left the roadway. *See, e.g.*, CP at 393 (report of plaintiff's expert); Slip Op. at 1 ("Ferndale's actions, Meyers asserted, exposed Anderson to the negligent driving of Klein.") As discussed in more detail below, that type of "cause in fact" analysis runs afoul of *Channel v. Mills* and is insufficient to constitute "cause in fact."

c. Legal Cause Analysis

As to the legal cause analysis that *Schooley* and *King* require, the Court of Appeals skipped this step entirely. In its Opinion, pages 12-15, the Court of Appeals *purported to* address "legal cause." But, instead,

what it did was cite to Lowman, for the idea that, "any consideration of the legal cause question should...begin with a review of the duty question." (Opinion at 14, emphasis added). Then, after noting that legal cause analysis begins with a review of duty, the Court of Appeals went no *further* than reiterating the duty. Its analysis ended. Its opinion turned to the lack of prior cases decided in favor of school districts, on the issue of legal cause. This error is obvious at Slip Opinion page 14, where the Court jumped directly from stating that duty should be the "starting point," to distinguishing N.L v. Bethel Sch. Dist., 186 Wn.2d 422, 430, 378 P.3d 162, 166 (2016), and McLeod v. Grant County Sch. Dist., 42 Wn.2d 316, 255 P.2d 360 (1953). But prior *case law* is not where *Schooley* or *King* direct the Court of Appeals to turn. In fact, doing so was directly contrary to Schooley and King: "The best use that can be made of the authorities on proximate cause is merely to furnish illustrations of situations which judicious men upon careful consideration have adjudged to be on one side of the line or the other.' King, 84 Wn.2d at 250.

Under *Schooley*, "legal causation should not be assumed to exist every time a duty of care has been established." *Schooley*, 134 Wn.2d at 480. Instead, the Court of Appeals was required, by *Schooley* and *King*, to turn its analysis to actually doing the messy, complicated, policy-driven, societal-standards-based work of analyzing *whether liability <u>should</u> extend*

to *these* facts.² It needed to examine the competing values of protecting students in school custody, with a school's right and ability to leave campus for recreational, enrichment or other educational purposes.

Under a legal cause analysis, the court "still retains its gatekeeper function and may determine that a municipality's actions were not the legal cause of the accident." *Keller v. City of Spokane; see also McCoy v. American Suzuki Motor Corp.*, 136 Wn.2d 350, 359, 961 P.2d 952 (1998) ("[T]he court often exercises its gatekeeper function by dismissing an action * * * for lack of legal cause if the defendant's actions are too remote a cause of plaintiff's injuries.").

Here, as stated by accident reconstruction expert, David Wells, "the roadway where this accident occurred was about as safe as you can make any road." (CP 157). The traffic lanes are each twelve feet wide. There is an eight foot wide shoulder between the fog line and the curb. (CP 157). It is wider than a typical road. There is a six-inch raised curb, protecting the five-and-a-half foot wide sidewalk. The roadway and sidewalk were in excellent condition. (CP 157). The road is mostly flat

² In other words, the Court of Appeals fell into the very shortcut that Justice Madsen warned against in the concurring opinion in *Lowman*. But no shortcut was available here. There is no "*Keller*" for these facts—*i.e.*, no established precedent holding that students/teachers should not be present on public sidewalks, nor that school districts have some duty to "make safe" a public sidewalk even as against negligent users, like the government was held to have in *Keller*.

and straight, with no visibility issues. There are pedestrians routinely using the roadway and sidewalks, including students walking to and from school, and at lunch. It is uncontroverted that Gabriel himself was permitted by his guardians to, and routinely did, *cross* this same roadway at lunchtime to buy his lunch at a nearby market. (CP 157, 543-544). There has only been one other pedestrian-related accident in the entire area, in the last ten years – and that occurred in the crosswalk of the intersection to the east of the school. It happened during the summer when a young male ran between cars stopped at the intersection, and jumped into the path of a slow moving vehicle. (CP 158). In other words, there have been no similar accidents.

The specific area where the students were located when they were struck had also been previously studied and approved as a Safe Walk Route by the District, pursuant to the procedures set forth in WAC 391-141-340. (CP 269, 306). The roadway had bus stops on it and is routinely used by students to walk to and from school. Further, Ritchie had taken PE students walking along this sidewalk around 30 times without any issues. (CP 310). It is uncontroverted that Klein had been driving at around 32-34 mph when he fell asleep, and that *one second elapsed*, from when his vehicle left the roadway until he impacted Gabriel Anderson. (CP 186-87). These are the facts to which the Court of Appeals was required to apply logic, common sense, justice, policy and precedent, and to determine whether liability should extend to Ferndale, for allowing P.E. teacher Ritchey to take students for a walk on the sidewalk.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with its own decision in *Channel v. Mills*. (RAP 13.4(b)(2)).

The Court of Appeals' decision at pages 10-12 purported to find an issue of "cause in fact" about whether "Ferndale's field trip and excursion policy covered Ritchie's class outing and whether compliance with that policy would have prevented Anderson's death." But the effect of a parental permission slip—signed or unsigned—would simply have been to allow, or prevent, Anderson from being present with the class on the public sidewalk—a location where Anderson and any other pedestrian had every lawful right to be. Simply causing Anderson to be on a public sidewalk is insufficient "cause-in-fact" under *Channel v. Mills*.

In *Channel*, the issue was an intersection vehicle collision. One party sought to establish, through expert testimony, that if Mills' speed had been different, upon his approach, "the vehicles would have cleared" each other. Therefore, they argued, his negligence (speeding) caused the accident because it brought him to the location where he could collide

with the other car. The Court of Appeals engaged in an exhaustive survey of in-state and out-of-state caselaw, then drew two corollary principals:

- "speed in excess of that permitted by statute or ordinance is not a proximate cause of a collision if the favored driver's automobile is where it is entitled to be, and the favored driver would have been unable to avoid the collision even if driving at a lawful speed."
- "A necessary corollary is that speed is not a proximate cause if it does no more than bring the favored and disfavored drivers to the same location at the same time, and the favored driver has the right to be at that location (i.e., the favored driver has the right of way)." *Channel*, 77 Wn. App. at 276-77.³

³ While all of the Washington cases discussed in *Channel* are "vehicle speed" cases, out-of-state cases discussed in *Channel* are from other contexts, such as a driver who happened to be driving underneath the location where a negligently-maintained tree fell when the wind blew. But for the driver's speed, the defending municipality argued, he would not have arrived at that location at the precise time the tree fell. That argument was roundly rejected as "cause in fact." *Berry v. Sugar Notch Borough*, 191 Pa. 345 (1889).

Also instructive is the discussion, in *Channel*, of *Doss v. Town of Big Stone Gap*, 145 Va. 520, 134 S.E. 563 (1926). The defendant town maintained an aviation park, open to both airplanes and cars. The town allowed the street leading to the park to deteriorate, allegedly as a result of the Town's negligence. The Town provided a detour, and the plaintiff was using that detour when his car was rear-ended by an airplane trying to land at the park. The plaintiff's estate sued the Town on the theory that but for the Town's negligence in maintaining the street, he would not have been using the detour, and but for using the detour, he and the airplane would not have been at the point of impact at the same time. The court held that the Town's negligence in maintaining the street—while it may have brought them into the same vicinity at the same time--was not a proximate cause of the accident.

The Court of Appeals also listed several other short-comings that plaintiff alleged—things like only having one adult present, allowing the students to "spread out," and walking with their backs to traffic. It used these as evidence to support "cause in fact" being a jury question. (Slip Op at 11-12). But all of these alleged short-comings—even if they did exist still lead only to the fact of some of the students happening to be present on the sidewalk at the precise location where Klein suddenly drove off the road. Using "being in the wrong place at the wrong time" as evidence of "cause in fact" is directly contrary to *Channel*.

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