FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/24/2020 11:37 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98280-5

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BONNIE I. MEYERS, as personal representative of the estate of
GABRIEL LEWIS ANDERSON, a deceased minor, age 15, and on behalf
of the beneficiaries of the estate; and BRANDI K. SESTROM and
JOSHUA ANDERSON, individually;

Respondents,

v.

FERNDALE SCHOOL DISTRICT, a political
subdivision of the State of Washington;

Petitioner,

and

WILLIAM KLEIN and JANE DOE KLEIN and the marital
community comprised thereof;

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John R. Connelly, WSBA #12183
Marta L. O'Brien, WSBA #46416
Jackson Pahlke, WSBA #52812

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

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

(1) The District Concedes that the Trial Court Erred in Basing Its Decision on a Lack of Duty on the Alleged Unforeseeability of Gabriel's Death

Buried in its petition at 9, District now *concedes* that it owed a broad protective duty to students under its care and custody, standing *in*

loco parentis to them. As the Estate argued below, appellants' br. at 12-18, such a duty is limited only by principles of foreseeability, a question of fact. *Id.* at 18-27. The trial court decided the case by ruling that the specific accident here was unforeseeable as a matter of law. That was error. Division I correctly discerned the District's duty and that foreseeability is assessed on the basis of whether the risk to the student was within a zone of danger, a fact question. A risk is not foreseeable unless it is "so highly extraordinary or improbable as to be wholly beyond the range of expectability." *McLeod v. Grant Cty. Sch. Dist. No. 128*, 42 Wn.2d 316, 323, 255 P.2d 360 (1953). Op. at 5-9.²

Notwithstanding its duty concession, the District nevertheless stubbornly insists in its petition at 17-18 that *Hendrickson v. Moses Lake Sch. Dist.*, 192 Wn.2d 269, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018) and *Anderson v. Soap Lake Sch. Dist.*, 191 Wn.2d 343, 423 P.3d 197 (2018) somehow diluted that broad protective duty. It asserts that no school liability decision of this Court has "gone so far as to hold that a school should be subject to liability, simply for taking students out in public, or off campus to a location where otherwise ordinary risks could, but rarely do, happen." Pet. at 17-18. Yet again, the District attempts to rehash duty and

² Indeed, Ritchie himself *admitted* that the collision that killed Gabriel was foreseeable, CP 488-89, as did the District's expert. CP 515.

foreseeability that it has now conceded and to cast the facts in a light favorable to it. And it is wrong on the law. A district *is* liable when, due to its negligence, a student under its care is harmed. *N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist.*, 186 Wn.2d 422, 378 P.3d 162 (2016). There, this Court rejected a school district’s legal causation argument where an 18-year-old student who was a registered sex offender persuaded a 14-year-old he met at joint middle school-high school track practice to leave campus with him and took her to his house where he raped her.

As noted in the Estate’s opening brief at 17-18, *Hendrickson* and *Anderson* merely clarified the scope of a school district’s duty to its students. The *Hendrickson* court made clear that a “heightened” duty is not owed, but the duty is, nevertheless, broader than the usual limited pool of risk, requiring districts to take affirmative precautions to protect students from “all reasonably foreseeable harm even when that harm is caused by third parties.” Districts must actually *anticipate* harm to students. 192 Wn.2d at 277.³ And under that broad protective duty, a

³ Lacking the courage of its convictions in failing to raise the point as an actual issue for review, pet. at 2, the District implies that it is essentially immune from suit because its duty is *in loco parentis* and parental liability in Washington is “limited.” Pet. at 18. The District *nowhere* advanced this argument in its trial court motion pleadings, CP 26-47, 528-36, and it should be foreclosed from doing so on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). Its argument is oblique at best and wrong in any event. In *Zellmer v. Zellmer*, 164 Wn.2d 147, 188 P.3d 497 (2008), for example, this Court made clear that parental immunity was confined to situations involving negligent parental upbringing of a child, but not to intentional harms, wanton or willful misconduct, or situations where the parent stands outside the parental role such as in the operation of an automobile. *Accord, Smelser v.*

district has “the responsibility of reasonable supervision.” *Kok v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10*, 179 Wn. App. 10, 18, 317 P.3d 481 (2013), *review denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1016 (2014); *J.N. By and Through Hager v. Bellingham Sch. Dist. No. 501*, 74 Wn. App. 49, 57, 871 P.2d 1106 (1994).

In sum, the District owed Gabriel a broad protective duty of care while he was under its care and custody. That duty, conceded by the District, is constrained by only foreseeability, a *question of fact*. *Anderson*, 191 Wn.2d at 369 n.19. Of course, the foreseeability analysis requires that the risk fall within the “general field of danger,” and need not involve a specific harm. *McLeod, supra; N.L.*, 186 Wn.2d at 430-31. *See also, Berglund v. City of Spokane Cty.*, 4 Wn.2d 309, 103 P.2d 355 (1940); *Rikstag v. Holmberg*, 76 Wn.2d 265, 456 P.2d 355 (1969); *Hopkins v. Seattle Pub. Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 195 Wn. App. 96, 380 P.3d 584, *review denied*, 186 Wn.2d 1029 (2016); *Quynn v. Bellevue Sch. Dist.*, 195 Wn. App. 627, 383 P.3d 1053 (2016).

Thus, Division I’s discussion of foreseeability, *op. at 7-9*, was entirely correct, and that decision has significant implications for cause-in-

Paul, 188 Wn.2d 648, 398 P.3d 1086 (2017); *Woods v. H.O. Sports Co. Inc.*, 183 Wn. App. 145, 333 P.3d 455 (2014) (negligent parental conduct, as in the operation of a boat or car is different than negligence associated with parental control, discipline, or discretion). The parental immunity doctrine, designed to protect parental upbringing of a child, has no application to a school district.

fact where both are questions of fact.

(2) Division I Correctly Addressed Proximate Cause as a Question of Fact Here

The District’s discussion of cause-in-fact is narrow, pet. at 9-10, 14-16 and fails to address that proximate cause in Washington is a question of fact.⁴ Its argument that cause-in-fact merits review is disingenuous where it effectively conceded that Gabriel’s death was foreseeable, within the zone of danger for such an improper excursion. Moreover, *ample* evidence below supported the proposition that the District’s negligence proximately resulted in Gabriel’s death, as Division I noted in detail. Op. at 9-12. Importantly, *the trial court never ruled on proximate cause.* CP 569-70.

The District nowhere addresses in its petition the *extensive* evidence the Estate offered below on proximate cause, including the

⁴ Cause-in-fact in Washington is ordinarily a jury question. *E.g., Michaels v. CH2M Hill, Inc.*, 171 Wn.2d 587, 611, 257 P.3d 532 (2011) (where the evidence is conflicting, cause in fact is to be resolved by the trier of fact); *Martini v. Post*, 178 Wn. App. 153, 164, 313 P.3d 473 (2013) (“Cause in fact is usually a jury question and is generally not susceptible to summary judgment”); *Mehlert v. Baseball of Seattle Inc.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 115, 404 P.3d 97 (2017) (genuine issue of material fact was present as to whether absence of handrails on ramp leading to Mariners team store caused plaintiff’s fall); *Tessema v. Mac-Millan Piper, Inc.*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 1047, 2018 WL 5251954 (2018) (question of fact present as to whether staircase was unsafe due to icy conditions of which defendant had notice causing plaintiff’s slip and fall, particularly in light of expert testimony); *Behla v. R.J. Jung, LLC*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 329, 453 P.3d 729 (2019) (reaffirms that proximate cause is fact question for jury and rejects reliance on contention that facts are “speculative,” stating “speculation is a specious word. One person’s proof may be another person’s speculation.” Court states that “the trial court should give the benefit of the doubt as to causation to the plaintiff and only dismiss a claim to the extent the court can decide that all reasonable people would conclude causation to be speculative.”).

crucial expert testimony of former Superintendent of Public Instruction Judith Billings, Dr. Dennis Smith, and accident reconstructionist Steven Harbinson. Appellants' Br. at 30-38. As this Court is well aware, on summary judgment, it is not the District's rendition of the facts that controls, but whether the Estate's factual assertions, reviewed in a light most favorable to the Estate, including reasonable inferences from those facts, creates a genuine issue of material fact for the jury.

Given the extensive testimony from the Estate's experts and its own staff on cause-in-fact, the District is forced to resort in its petition to a contention that, in effect, its negligence could never be the proximate cause of the students' deaths and injuries, citing a traffic case. It seems to want to argue that "but for" causation is not really "but for" causation, after all, citing *Channel v. Mills*, 77 Wn. App. 268, 890 P.2d 535 (1995), a case the District cited in a footnote in its Division I brief. Resp't Br. at 20 n.2. But that case is ultimately unavailing to the District's position on proximate cause. There, Division II held that speed was not the proximate cause of an automobile accident if it did no more than bring the favored and disfavored drivers to the same location at the same time. The *Channel* court hastened to note that nothing in its opinion foreclosed proof that but for excessive speed, "the favored driver, between the point of notice and the point of impact, would have been able to brake, swerve or otherwise

avoid the point of impact.” *Id.* at 278-79. Indeed, Division II itself said that if a plaintiff can document that but for the defendant’s negligence, the plaintiff would not have been harmed, proximate cause is met. (“A cause in fact is a cause but for which the accident would not have happened.”). *Id.* at 272-73. That is precisely what the Estate documented here on *multiple* levels, as Division I observed. *Op.* at 11-12.

For example, on causation:

- Dr. Smith testified that Ritchie’s spur-of-the-moment excursion without parental permission should not have occurred at all as there was no educational benefit in it. CP 348;
- Ritchie’s ill-fated excursion with the students required parental permission in accordance with Policy 2320, and the District’s own personnel were themselves confused about the nature of Ritchie’s action. Appellants’ Br. at 31 n.22. Both SPI Judith Billings and Dr. Dennis Smith testified that the excursion was unsafe and violated District policy. CP 346-90;
- Rick Brudwick and Jill Iwasaki testified that District staff believed Policy 2320 applied to classes leaving the WHS campus, requiring parental permission. They required parental permission before PE class students could go on an excursion. CP 364-66; 378-79. Gabriel’s grandmother, his guardian, never gave permission for the excursion. CP 433-24;
- As Steven Harbinson testified that Ritchie’s conduct of his excursion was not only unsafe because it violated the District’s policy, it was unsafe because the students were spread out, allowed to cross W. Smith Road wherever they chose, at other than designated crosswalks within the lower speed school zone and were unchaperoned. CP 395. His

cavalier operation of the excursion caused the students to be struck by an inattentive driver like Klein.

But for *any* of these actions, Gabriel would not have been killed. As Division I discerned, *op.* at 9-12, fact questions abounded on cause-in-fact. Ritchie's impromptu excursion to discuss summer plans was unnecessary and not agreed to by parents, as the District's Policy 2320 commanded. That it occurred along a roadway where cars could travel up to 40 miles per hour without regard to traffic-related dangers was also a matter for the jury. Review is not merited because Division I correctly applied a cause-in-fact analysis. RAP 13.4(b).

(3) Division I Correctly Addressed Legal Causation in Light of This Court's Controlling Precedent

The central focus of the District's petition is legal causation, *pet.* at 5-9, an issue it raised only in passing in the trial court. CP 41-43, 333-35, and that the trial court *never reached*. CP 569 ("The defendant school district here argues that the accident was not foreseeable, and further argues that the Plaintiffs cannot establish legal cause or proximate cause."). Review is not merited on that issue in any event because Division I faithfully applied this Court's treatment of legal causation. *Op.* at 12-15.

This Court has determined that legal causation is closely associated with duty – whether, as a matter of policy, the connection between the

defendant's misconduct and the plaintiff's ultimate harm is too remote or insubstantial to permit liability to attach. *Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 468, 951 P.2d 749 (1998). The *Schooley* court held that legal causation principles did not bar a claim by a minor injured when a grocery store illegally sold liquor to another minor and that minor injured the plaintiff.

This Court rejected the District's legal causation argument in *Lowman v. Wilbur*, 178 Wn.2d 165, 309 P.3d 387 (2013), a case largely ignored by the District. Noting the connection between duty and legal causation, *id.* at 171, the Court held that where the jury found that the plaintiff passenger's injuries sustained when the driver lost control of her vehicle, left the road, and struck a utility pole placed too close to the roadway were within the scope of a municipality's duty to roadway users, the plaintiff's injuries were not too remote and legal causation did not foreclose liability.⁵

⁵ See also, *Wuthrich v. King County*, 185 Wn.2d 19, 366 P.3d 926 (2016) (in roadway design case involving overgrown blackberry bushes obstructing motorist views at intersection, Court found proximate cause was a fact question for jury and rejected county's legal causation argument that it lacked notice of hazard of overgrown bushes; county had notice of the overgrown bushes and fact that no prior accidents occurred at intersection related to breach of duty and not causation); *State v. Frahm*, 193 Wn.2d 590, 444 P.3d 595 (2019) (Court holds that even under the narrower rule of legal causation applicable in criminal cases than in civil cases, legal causation was satisfied in a case where a drunk driver caused an accident on I-5 in Vancouver, a Good Samaritan stopped to assist the accident victim, and was himself then killed in a subsequent collision at the site; the drunk driver was legally the cause of the Good Samaritan's death for purposes of a vehicular homicide prosecution).

This Court has *routinely* rejected legal causation arguments in the school district setting. *E.g.*, *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 365;⁶ *N.L.*, 186 Wn.2d at 437-38. Indeed, as Division I noted at 14, the District fails to cite *a single case* in the school district liability setting that applies legal causation to deny liability, given the school districts' broad protective duty owed to students under their care and custody.

Because it cannot prevail on the basis of this Court's recent legal causation jurisprudence, the District invents an arcane three-step analysis it alleges *Schooley* requires and relies on *King v. City of Seattle*, 84 Wn.2d 239, 525 P.2d 228 (1974), an overruled case,⁷ for its position on legal causation. Pet. at 5-9.

⁶ The *McLeod* court indicated that issues of foreseeability and legal causation revolve around the same principle of whether the harm is within the general field of danger:

Having given full consideration to the factor of foreseeability in discussing the allegations as to negligence, it is not necessary to cover the same ground in dealing with proximate cause. We have held that it is for the jury to decide whether the general field [sic] of danger should have been anticipated by the school district. If the jury finds respondent negligent in not having anticipated and guarded against this danger, then it is not for the court to say that such negligence could not be a proximate cause of a harm falling within that very field of danger.

Id. at 365.

⁷ The central issue of *King* was whether a municipality could tortiously interfere with a business expectancy of a developer by denying a building permit. This Court held that it could not, only to reverse course in *Pleas v. City of Seattle*, 112 Wn.2d 794, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989) and *City of Seattle v. Blume*, 134 Wn.2d 243, 947 P.2d 223 (1997) to conclude that such a claim was possible. This Court's more recent discussions of legal causation in *Schooley* and *Lowman* are more cogent than the *King* court's treatment of legal causation.

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